RECEIVED

Mar 22 2024

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master in Equity

Appellate Case No. 2023-000421

Southern First Bank.....Appellant,

v.

Kenneth J. Vilcheck, Renee M. Vilcheck, Portfolio Recovery
Associates, LLC, The Federal Housing Commissioner,
The Department of the Treasury – Internal Revenue Service,
and The South Carolina Department of Revenue.....Respondents.

APPELLANT’S FINAL BRIEF

SMITH HUDSON LAW, LLC

s/ Joseph O. Smith

Joseph O. Smith (S.C. Bar No. 77475)

Joshua J. Hudson (S.C. Bar No. 100311)

200 N. Main Street, Suite 301-C

Greenville, SC 29601

Phone: (864) 908-2912

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Judgment and the Property

The underlying action leading to this appeal arose out of a judgment entered against the Respondents, Renne M. and Kenneth J. Vilcheck (the “Vilchecks” or “Respondents”) in the principal amount of \$391,284.46 plus post judgment interest at the legal rate entered in Beaufort County on March 27, 2013 (the “Judgment”), in favor of Appellant Southern First Bank (the “Bank” or “Appellant”). (**R. pp. 193-205**). That Judgment immediately attached to the Vilchecks’ real property in Beaufort County and would attach to any new real property they subsequently acquired in the County. In November 2020, Renee Vilcheck acquired non-exempt real property in Beaufort County with the address 318 Bamberg Dr., Bluffton, SC 29910 (the “Property”). The Deed for the Property to Renee M. Wilcheck was recorded with the Lexington County Register of Deeds Office on November 25, 2020.¹

On July 8, 2015, the Beaufort County Register of Deeds recorded a deed dated June 26, 2015, conveying the Property from Renee M. Vilcheck as Trustee of the Bermuda Trust Agreement UAD to Renee M. Vilcheck. Then on February 5, 2019, the Beaufort County Register of Deeds recorded a Quitclaim Deed dated February 5, 2019, conveying the Property from Renee Marsh Vilcheck to Kenneth Joseph Vilcheck and Renee Marsh Vilcheck. On May 16, 2019, the Property was again conveyed, this time from Renee M. Vilcheck a/k/a Renee Marsh Vilcheck and Kenneth Joseph Vilcheck to Kenneth J. Vilcheck and Renee M. Vilcheck. That same day the Beaufort County Register of Deeds recorded the Federal Housing Commissioner’s Adjustable-Rate Home Equity Conversion Second Mortgage secured by the Property, dated May 9, 2019. Then, on October 8, 2019, the Department of the Treasury filed a tax lien in the amount of

¹ Other creditors obtained subsequent judgments or filed tax liens all junior to the Appellant’s Judgment following its entry.

\$285,799 on the Property. On June 12, 2020, the South Carolina Department of Revenue filed state tax liens against both Respondents for an approximate total amount of \$22,000.

B. Collection Proceedings Commence and Respondents Delay Tactics

On February 9, 2021, Execution on the Judgment was filed by the Appellant seeking to collect on the Judgment. (**R. pp. 65-67**). Shortly thereafter, Appellants served the Respondents with a copy of the Execution and subpoenas. On February 22, 2021, Appellant filed the stamped *Nulla Bona* with the Court. Then, on March 1, 2021, the Bank petitioned the court for an Order of Reference. On March 2, 2021, an Order of Reference was entered referring the matter to the Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, Master in Equity of Beaufort County. (**R. pp. 1-3**). Three days later Appellant filed a Petition for Supplemental Proceedings. (**R. pp. 206-213**). On May 5, 2021, Appellant filed a foreclosure action seeking to foreclose on the Property (C.A. No. 2021-07-00944) to satisfy the Judgment. Following that there was a series of filings as Respondents failed to respond to subpoenas or otherwise cooperate in the judicial process resulting in the Appellant withdrawing its petition for supplemental proceedings on July 9, 2021. (**R. pp. 68-78**).

Respondents answered the foreclosure complaint and demanded a jury trial. (**R. pp. 79-86**). Appellants moved to strike the jury demand and have the foreclosure matter referred to the Master. (**R. pp. 264-265**). Those motions were granted motions through orders entered on May 9 and 10, 2022. (**R. pp. 12-14; R. pp. 15-17**). Respondents filed a motion to reconsider those rulings, which was denied on June 15, 2022. (**R. pp. 27-29**). Respondents then filed a notice of appeal of those three orders on July 11, 2022 (the “First Appeal”). (**R. pp. 252-256**).²

² See Appellate CA. No. 2022-000958.

Two days later, on July 13, 2022, the Respondents filed Motions to Stay Proceedings and Motion for Relief from the Rule to Show Cause and to Quash (“Rule 60 Motion”) asking the Master to declare the Judgment void due to non-service of the Summons and Complaint, leading to a purported lack of personal jurisdiction over the Vilchecks (even though they had filed responsive pleadings and various other filings with the court in the matter). (**R. pp. 276-296; R. pp. 297-299**). The Master heard arguments on those and several other motions on July 20, 2022. On August 25, 2022, the Master issued an Order that included his determination that the Motion to Stay needed to be heard and decided before any other motions and prior to a supplemental proceeding examination or other judgment collection proceedings. (**R. pp. 30-33 at 30**). The Master ordered a hearing to resolve that motion be held on September 29, 2022, during which live testimony would be taken to allow the Court to resolve the issues presented. *Id.* The Master also directed Respondents to arrange for a court report and turn over certain documents to the Appellant by August 19, 2022. *Id. at 30-31*. The order concluded by noting “time is of the essence.” The September 29th hearing was subsequently canceled. Respondents turned over some of the documentation they were required to provide on September 27, 2022.

Ultimately, on October 17, 2022, the Master held a hearing on Respondents’ Rule 60 Motion. Three days later the Master entered an order denying that Rule 60 Motion finding that the court had personal jurisdiction over the Respondents, the Judgment was not void, and supplemental proceedings could continue. (**R. pp. 34-35**).

On October 21, 2022, Appellant motioned for an order applying the Property towards satisfaction of the Judgment by selling it at auction according to South Carolina law, and another motion to join all necessary parties. (**R. pp. 300-382**). That same day, Respondents filed a Motion for Extension of their initial briefing deadline in the First Appeal filed over three months earlier. (**R. pp. 383-386**). In the interim, the Vilchecks filed a Motion to Reconsider the denial of

their Rule 60 Motion which was denied on November 7, 2022. (**R. pp. 36-38**). The same day the Master entered an order joining necessary parties (**R. pp. 39-41**), which Respondents challenged through a motion to reconsider submitted on November 17, 2022. (**R. pp. 389-391**). Respondents also filed a second motion for extension of their initial briefing deadline on November 17, 2022, with this Court. (**R. pp. 392-395**). This Court granted that second request saying “[n]o further extensions would be granted absent extraordinary circumstances.” (**R. p. 42-43**). The Master denied Respondent’s November 17th motion to reconsider shortly after its filing. (**R. pp. 44-46**). Six days later, on November 28, 2022, Respondents filed a Notice of Appeal of the lower court’s Order denying their Rule 60 Motion and its Order to Join Necessary Parties, along with the orders denying both motions to reconsider those rulings (the “Second Appeal”)(**R. pp. 257-259**).³

All told, at that point, the Vilchecks had filed appeals challenging four substantive orders (along with the denials of motions to reconsider them) over the course of approximately four months all in service of attempting to delay the collection proceedings process as much as possible. Notably, Respondents never filed any actual briefs addressing the numerous orders they appealed to this Court, even though the first appeal was filed in July 2022.

Knowing they would not get any further extensions on the initial briefing deadline in their First Appeal through a standard motion for extension, the Respondents submitted a Motion to

³ See Appellate CA No. 2022-001678.

Consolidate the First Appeal and Second Appeal to the appellate Court on December 20, 2022. **(R. pp. 396-400)**. That led to opposition briefing lasting through the end of 2022, and caused this Court to hold all filing deadlines in both appeals in abeyance while it decided on consolidation. They had again succeeded in not actually challenging the orders appealed over five months prior.

The Master held a status conference on January 19, 2023, during which the Respondents argued that their appeal of the Order denying their Rule 60 Motion stayed the proceedings, acted to deprive the lower court of jurisdiction until that appeal was resolved, and asked the Master to wait until the Appellate court ruled on their motion for rehearing their Motion to Stay the lower court proceedings; again another attempt to waste time and run out the judgment clock. **(R. pp. 222-230, 246-247, 249-250)**. The Master expressed concerns about the court's ability to proceed with ordering the Property be sold to satisfy the Judgment and ultimately declined to hold a hearing on the Appellant's motion to do so at that time. Shortly afterward, Appellant counsel emailed the Master laying out the applicable law showing that the Vilchecks' appeals did not automatically stay the proceedings and again requested that an order be entered requiring the Property be sold to satisfy the Judgment. **(R. pp. 223-225)**. That email, in part, specified that SCACR 241 did not automatically stay the proceedings as Respondents argued and cited to a South Carolina Supreme Court case directly on point that makes clear denials of Rule 60(b) motions do not automatically stay the lower court proceedings. *Id.* citing to *Stearns Bank v. Glenwood Falls*, 375 S.C. 423, 653 S.E.2d 274 (2007). That correspondence further noted that the Supreme Court made clear in *Raby Const., LLP v. Orr*, that when there are specific orders stayed on appeal, they do not stay the execution of the underlying order of judgment. 358 S.C. 10, 23, 594 S.E.2d 478, 485 (2004) (“In other words, because the only appeal pending at the time the

trial court awarded additional attorneys' fees was the denial of the Rule 60(b) motion, that is the only order that would be automatically stayed; the general rule does not authorize a stay of the underlying order of judgment or order of foreclosure. *Cf. In re Zapata Gulf Marine Corp.*, 941 F.2d 293, 295 (5th Cir.1991)(where the court, applying analogous federal rules, reversed the district court's stay of execution of the underlying judgment where the only appeal pending was the denial of the Rule 60(b) motion).”). Knowing the Appellant’s reasserted legal position to be correct, Respondents had to act fact to delay the Master from proceeding to order sale of the Property.

To that end, on February 1, 2023, Respondents filed a Motion to Stay the lower court’s proceedings with this Court arguing that SCACR 205 and 241(as) required cessation of the collection proceedings below, including a hearing set for two days later on Appellant’s motion for judicial sale of the Property. (**R. pp. 401-452**). This Court immediately denied Respondents’ motion the day it was filed. (**R. pp. 47-48**). The next day, Respondents petitioned for rehearing and requested consideration by a full panel. (**R. pp. 453-458**).

In the midst of Respondents’ ongoing efforts to halt any progress in the collection proceedings, on February 3, 2023, the Master heard Appellant’s Motion for an order applying the Property towards satisfaction of the Judgment by selling it at auction. (**R. pp. 87-129**). In challenging that Motion, the Vilchecks again argued that the pending appeals should stay the proceedings and prevent the Master from ordering their Property be sold at auction to satisfy the Judgment debt, even though this Court had already rejected that argument two days earlier. (*Id.* **pp. 105-108**). Respondents asked the Master to not order the sale until their petitions for rehearing were resolved by a full panel of this Court. (*Id.* **p. 106, lines 7-11**). The Master appeared to reason that the sale could go forward under certain conditions (namely Appellant posting an adequate bond)

and requested Appellant counsel to prepare a proposed order effectuating the sale. The Master did, however, wait until after this Court denied the Vilchecks' petitions for rehearing on February 6, 2022, to rule on the motion for sale of the Property. (*Id.* pp. 110-111).⁴

That ruling came on February 9, 2023, when the Master entered the Order challenged by this appeal in which he denied Respondents' Motion to sell the Property because the judicial sale process, he found, would not be complete before the judgment reached its ten-year mark on March 27, 2023. (**R. pp. 51-60 at 56-59**).⁵ Thus, according to the Master, the judgment's "active energy" would expire on that date, and unless the judicial process could be completed beforehand, ordering it would be futile under controlling law. *Id.* The Master reasoned that the applicable statutory provisions for judicial sales required a 30-day process that could not be completed by the next judicial sales day of March 6th, but rather would be final upon the following judicial sale date of April 5th, eight days after the Judgment hit its ten-year mark. (**R. pp. 58-59**). Thus, the Master held that ordering the sale of the Property would be futile and therefore denied the Motion.

That ruling was in err for multiple reasons, including the Master's misinterpretation and application of relevant case and statutory law and his failure to consider and account for Respondents' multifaceted and relentless delay tactics aimed at prolonging the proceedings to such an extent they could convince the court that they should not have to repay their debt due to the age of the judgment. Those efforts proved successful and Appellant seeks relief from that erroneous

⁴ The Court again recognized that time was of the essence but there was still enough time to effectuate the judicial sale. (**R. p. 113, lines 11-12, p. 111, line 25 – p. 115, line 2**).

⁵ Appellant filed a Motion to Establish Sales Procedures for Sale of the Property on February 17, 2023. (**R. pp. 473-478**). This appeal also includes the Order Denying that Motion filed March 9, 2023, although that decision has no articulated substantive basis at all, so as to make it substantively different than the challenged February 9, 2022, Order. (**R. pp. 63-64**). Presumably, the Master denied the Motion to Establish Sales Procedures for the same reasons articulated in his February 9, 2023, Order on appeal.

ruling from this Court.

The Respondents filed stipulations of dismissal on both their appeals on March 16, 2023. **(R. pp. 260-261)**. This Court dismissed both appeals on March 22, 2023, and issued remittiturs on April 12, 2023. Not a single substantive filing was submitted addressing the alleged merits of the Respondents' appeals.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In equity cases decided by a master, the appellate court reviews findings of fact in accordance with its own view of the evidence and makes its own findings of fact. *Matter of Estate of Kay*, 423 S.C. 476, 479, 816 S.E.2d 542 (2018). A legal question in an equity case receives appellate review as in law. *North American Products, Inc. v. Richardson*, 396 S.C. 124, 720 S.E.2d 53 (Ct. App. 2011). Whether in equity or at law, the Court of Appeals undertakes a *de novo* review of all issues purely of law properly presented on appeal without any particular deference to the lower court. *South Carolina Dept. of Transp. V. M&T Enter. Of Mt. Pleasant, LLC*, 379 S.C. 645, 667 S.E.2d 7 (Ct. App. 2008).

IV. ARGUMENT & ANALYSIS

A. The Master Erred in Denying the Appellant the Relief to Which it was Entitled

The Master, in his Order, denied the Bank the relief to which he recognized it was entitled at the time because the process for effectuating it would end eight days after the Judgment reached its ten-year mark on March 27, 2023. **(R. pp. 57-59)**. That ruling was in error and should be reversed by this Court.

In this case the Judgment's ten-year anniversary fell on March 27, 2023. Appellant motioned the lower court for judicial sale of the Property to satisfy its judgment on October 21, 2022. **(R. pp. 300-382)**. That motion was heard by the

Master on February 3, 2023, and the Order denying it entered February 9, 2023; all prior to the ten-year anniversary of the Judgment. The Master relied upon the South Carolina Supreme Court's holdings in *Gordon v. Lancaster* and *Garrison v. Owens* along with the language of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-30 for the foundational proposition underlying its denial of Appellant's motion for judicial sale stating that "[i]f a judgment's 10-year duration expires before the collection proceedings are complete, no matter how close they might be to complete, the collection proceedings stop because the expiration of the judgment has made collection efforts moot." (**R. p. 57 ¶ 28**). That is not what those cases or statute say nor stand for, and the Master erred in concluding otherwise to deny Appellant's motion as futile.

In *Garrison v. Owens*, the Court held that "[a] judgment lien is purely statutory, its duration as fixed by the legislature may not be prolonged by the courts and the *bringing of an action* to enforce the lien will not preserve it beyond the time fixed by the statute, if such time expires *before the action is tried*." 258 S.C. 442, 446-47, 189 S.E.2d 31 (1972)(*emphasis added*). In *Garrison* the judgment creditor sought to enforce his judgment by filing an action approximately two months before it reached its ten-year anniversary. He did not get the case in a posture such that the court could order any relief to satisfy the judgment before the active energy window expired. In that case, the Supreme Court held simply, and narrowly, that if a judgment reaches its ten-year mark before "the action is tried" the fact that the judgment creditor filed before that date will not allow him to proceed with collection efforts. *Id.* 258 S.C. at 446-47. It did not deal with a situation in which the creditor filed years before the judgment was ten years old and pursued collection to the point relief could be ordered by the court during the ten-year active energy window.

The much more recent decision in *Gordon v. Lancaster* was confined to the Supreme Court addressing "the narrow question of whether a creditor may execute on a judgment more than ten

years after its enrollment when the time period has expired during the course of litigation.” *Gordon v. Lancaster*, 425 S.C. 386, 387, 823 S.E.2d 173 (2018). In *Gordon*, the bench trial through which the Plaintiff sought to collect on a 2001 judgment did not take place until 2013; years after the ten-year mark had passed. By that time Gordon had no right to any relief upon what was an over ten-year-old judgment. Neither case says the collection proceeding ends when the judgment reaches ten years as the Master contended and relied upon to deny Appellant’s motion for judicial sale. *Garrison* said “bringing an action” to collect will not extend the life of a judgment and *Gordon* held a creditor has ten years to *execute* on a judgment. Likewise, the statute cited by the Master in the Order says that “[e]xecutions may issue upon final judgments...at any time within ten years from the date of the original entry thereof and shall have active energy during such period.” S.C. Code Ann. ¶ 15-39-30. None of these legal sources upon which the Order relies to deny Appellant’s motion says that a judgment creditor should be denied relief they have a legal right to receive which can be ordered before hitting the ten-year mark because the process of effectuating that relief will end sometime after the ten years is up.

In this case the Appellant as the creditor executed on the Judgment during its ten-year active energy time period. Appellant first filed for execution on February 9, 2021, over two years before the Judgment would reach ten years old on March 27, 2023. The Appellant doggedly pursued collection efforts in the face of an onslaught of delay tactics and noncompliance by the Respondent debtors (which is addressed in more detail below). Ultimately, the Bank was able to get the case in a posture such that the Master could order the Respondents’ Property be sold to satisfy the Judgment before it reached its ten-year mark. At that point the Master could, and should, have ordered judicial sale of the Property in his February 6, 2023, Order regardless of whether the sale process would end shortly after the judgment reached the ten-year mark. The relief to which

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