**RECEIVED**

**Apr 10 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master-in-Equity

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-000421

---

Southern First Bank, N.A. d/b/a Greenville First Bank,.....Appellant,

v.

Kenneth J. Vilcheck, Renee M. Vilcheck, Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC, United States of America, acting through its agency, Department of Treasury – Internal Revenue Service, Federal Housing Commissioner, The South Carolina Department of Revenue, Belfair Property Owners’ Association, Inc., and the Greenery, Inc. a South Carolina corporation,.....Respondents.

---

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

Rule 210(c), SCACR, prohibits the inclusion in the record on appeal of “matter which was not presented to the lower court or tribunal.” Accord State v. White, 372 S.C. 364, 387, 642 S.E.2d 607, 619 (Ct. App. 2007); Sanders, 283 S.C. at 461; see Cobb v. Benjamin, 325 S.C. 573, 581 n. 2, 482 S.E.2d 589, 593 n. 2 (Ct. App. 1997). Rule 209(b), SCACR, provides that a designation of matter for inclusion in the record on appeal “may only propose to include portions of the transcript, pleadings, orders, exhibits, or other materials which may be properly included in the record on appeal.”

Southern First has designated matter for inclusion in the record on appeal that was never presented to the lower court, and Southern First argues that this improperly designated matter proves the correctness of its position. It is not enough that matter may have been presented to *some court, somewhere, in some case*. Rule 210(c), SCACR; White, 372 S.C. at 387; Sanders, 283

S.C. at 460. The scope of the appealed record is what was presented in *this* case to *this* lower court. Rule 210(c), SCACR; White, 372 S.C. at 387; Sanders, 283 S.C. at 460.

If Southern First thinks the Vilchecks' litigation conduct was sufficiently improper to warrant it, it should have made a sanctions motion or sued the Vilchecks for abuse of process. This appeal cannot be substituted for such a proceeding. Sanders, 283 S.C. at 460.

**c. Southern First has not shown the Vilchecks' actions caused Southern First's timing problem.**

Further, delay incident to acts done by the Vilchecks did not cause the decision to deny Southern First the sale it sought. An examination of the timing of events reveals this.

By December 7, 2022, Southern First had succeeded in serving all the added parties with the order joining them and with the motion seeking a judicial sale of the Vilchecks' property. (Supp. R. pp. 27-36.) In practice before masters-in-equity, motion hearings are typically set as the result of a request for a hearing by the moving party. On December 7, 2022, Southern First was in a position to request a hearing on its motion for a judicial sale.

Nevertheless, Southern First's counsel did not write the office of the master-in-equity to ask that a hearing be scheduled until January 11, 2023. (R. pp. 249-50.) That delay is what made it impossible for the master to grant Southern First's motion.<sup>2</sup> If Southern First had asked for the motion hearing in mid-December, and if all of the other events (including acts done by the Vilchecks) had happened the same way and over the exact same duration of time after a mid-December hearing request as they did after the mid-January one, the Vilchecks would be out of their house right now. Had Southern First – the judgment creditor with a clock to beat – requested a hearing earlier, Judge Dukes would likely have issued an order in early January that would have

---

<sup>2</sup> That delay by Southern First was not improper or wrong in any way, but it, not anything the Vilchecks did, is what prevented Southern First from succeeding on its motion.

directed a judicial sale, and that sale could have been completed during the judgment enforcement period. (R. pp. 51-60.)

Southern First has left that part out. The Vilchecks' actions may have caused some delay, but they did not cause the delay that cost Southern First the judicial sale.

**IV. Southern First's arguments to this court are different from what they were below and are not preserved for review.**

To be preserved for appellate review, an argument must have been both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. *E.g.*, Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998); Vespazziani v. McAlister, 307 S.C. 411, 413, 415 S.E.2d 427, 428 (Ct. App. 1992).

Here, Southern First's arguments on appeal are not preserved for review; the only one that Southern First made below is the contention that merely a hearing must be held before the end of the judgment's 10-year period, and that was not made until Southern First's motion to reconsider the denial of the judicial sale. (R. p. 137 ln. 19-25, p. 146 ln. 17 though p. 148 ln. 2, p. 148 ln. 14-19, pp. 464-72.) Southern First never argued below that the Vilchecks even engaged in bad faith, frivolous conduct, much less that such conduct provided a basis for Judge Dukes to order the sale of the property.

Here is the closest that Southern First came to making that argument in the hearing on its motion for a judicial sale:

All we've done is to try to resolve this through a run-of-the-mill foreclosure and bring everybody in, and just had to fight off appeal after appeal after appeal. That's what we're dealing with here. Nothing has been raised on the merits. There is no defense to this case that's been raised.

...

And so we're eager to do - to get this done. We've been fighting and scrapping to have our day in court. And between the status

conference and this morning I think we've had two more appeals filed and other -- and other things have happened as well.

(R. p. 96 ln. 4-10, p. 102 ln. 17-23.)

For the frivolous-bad-faith argument Southern First now makes to be preserved, it would have had to be made at that hearing. See Wilder Corp., 330 S.C. at 71; Vespazziani, 307 S.C. at 413. It was not. (R. pp. 87-129.)

Here is the closest that Southern First came to making that argument in the hearing on its motion to reconsider the denial of its motion for a judicial sale:

While we understand this is somewhat of a novel issue, somewhat of a very technical argument, we've been here before in other cases with other masters across the state where we have dealt with *the defendants simply orchestrating delays and hindrances through appeals*. ***They're entitled to do that, Your Honor.*** *I'm not saying that they're not entitled to bring an appeal, they're not entitled to delay and to create obstacles and hindrances*, but there has been no defense on the merits at all in any way outside of get it to the ten years, and then we're going to live with, hey, apply this bright-line rule of *Gordon v. Lancaster*. And that's not a fair assessment of *Gordon v. Lancaster*. That's not a fair view of the facts in this case.

...

We haven't asked to be put into this position. We've been kicked into this position. We've been thrown into this position. We had hearing after hearing after hearing after delay after delay after delay appeal after appeal. And everybody's asserted their rights. And they have them. Creditors have rights. Third parties have rights. Defendant debtors have rights.

...

They've got seven or eight appeals, but at least preserve our rights and preserve our judgment here. And the tools and the means that the defendant has used over the last two years is not in contemplation from the statute or the Supreme Court to be afforded such protections by simple delays and mechanisms to continue this case.

...

We have fought tooth and nail to get to this point, and we are entitled to a final order for the judicial sale regardless of what the miniscule effects and acts afterwards have to -- are. We've been put in this position. We've been a vigilant and diligent creditor.

(R. p. 136 ln. 7-22, p. 141 ln. 6-13, p. 142 ln. 4-10, p. 148 ln. 7-13)(emphasis added).

Though it would have been too late to do so anyway for issue preservation purposes, see Wilder Corp., 330 S.C. at 71; Vespazziani, 307 S.C. at 413, Southern First did not advance the frivolity argument it now makes at the motion to reconsider stage, either. (R. pp. 130-63.)

The closest Southern First ever came to making the argument it does now was in the hearing on its motion to establish a procedure to have the property sold in a different way:

We've tried to go through, and various things have delayed it. Various things have prevented this from going through, essentially none of which have actually been viable arguments from the debtors that they should not have the property sold, apart from running out the clock, and reaching the deadline, and then having it not be viable after the ten-year expiration.

...

And yet, throughout these proceedings, there have been appeals. There have been delays. Sometimes, just things like hurricanes. Out of everybody's control. Nothing we can do about it.

But it's reached a point where this seems like the only viable way forward for equity to be carried out and Southern First Bank to receive any funds on their debt that is owed.

(R. p. 180 ln. 13-20, p. 180 ln. 24 through p. 181 ln. 6.)

The master's order on that motion does not address this argument. (R. pp. 63-64.) Southern First did not make a Rule 59, SCRPC, motion with regard to that order. The argument Southern First made at that hearing is not preserved for review. See Wilder Corp., 330 S.C. at 71;

Vespazziani, 307 S.C. at 413. In any event, it is not the same argument that Southern First makes now.

Southern First never argued below that the Vilchecks had done anything frivolous or in bad faith. (R. pp. 87-192.) Indeed, Southern First told the master that the Vilchecks had a right to “orchestrat[e] delays and hindrances through appeals.” (R. p. 136 ln. 11-16.) That is a far cry from the argument Southern First makes now.

Southern First is not right about its arguments, but, crucially, they are not preserved for review, regardless of their substantive merit. Wilder Corp., 330 S.C. at 71; Vespazziani, 307 S.C. at 413. A party’s unpreserved arguments cannot prevail on appeal. E.g., Hatfield v. Hatfield, 327 S.C. 360, 367, 489 S.E.2d 212, 216 (Ct. App. 1997). This court should affirm.

**V. The judgment has expired, and this appeal is moot.**

In denying the Vilchecks’ previous motion to dismiss this appeal, this court’s June 21, 2023, order stated that the issue of this appeal’s mootness may be argued in the briefs along with the merits.

This appeal is moot. “‘A case is moot where a judgment rendered by the Court will have no practical legal effect upon an existing controversy because an intervening event renders any grant of effectual relief impossible for the Court.’ S.C. Ret. Syst. Inv. Comm’n v. Loftis, 402 S.C. 382, 384, 741 S.E.2d 757, 758 (2013). ‘[M]oot appeals result when intervening events prevent a decision on appeal from having an immediate impact on the parties.’ 15 S.C. Jur. Appeal and Error § 19 (Supp. 2014).” Wachesaw Plantation E. Cmty. Servs. Ass’n, Inc. v. Alexander, 414 S.C. 355, 359, 778 S.E.2d 898 (2015).

Here, an intervening event has prevented a decision in this appeal from having an impact on the parties. The result will be the same whether Southern First does or does not convince the court that Judge Dukes erred.

This is an appeal of orders that all decline to order the sale of a piece of real property in execution of a judgment lien. As is undisputed, at the end of the day on March 27, 2023, the judgment lien expired and its execution period ended. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-39-30, 15-35-810; Gordon, 425 S.C. at 386; Garrison, 258 S.C. at 446-47.

There is on-point precedent that judgments in South Carolina cannot be enforced more than ten years after they are rendered, even if at that time there are pending proceedings to enforce the judgment. Gordon, 425 S.C. at 386. Also, the proceedings below sought enforcement of a judgment lien that no longer exists, as “[t]he lien of a judgment is absolutely extinguished and ended after the expiration of ten years from the date of entry.” Garrison, 258 S.C. at 446-47.

Accordingly, even if Southern First obtains a decision that Judge Dukes erred in not ordering a sale, no sale can *now* be ordered. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-39-30, 15-35-810; Gordon, 425 S.C. at 386; Garrison, 258 S.C. at 446-47. Execution on this judgment cannot be had, and the judgment’s lien on real estate no longer exists. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-39-30, 15-35-810; Gordon, 425 S.C. at 386; Garrison, 258 S.C. at 446-47.

Southern First seeks to convince this court that, because the appealed orders were issued before the judgment expired, the master was wrong to conclude that he could not order the real property sold. But any order that would *now* be issued directing a sale would come only after the judgment’s lien and execution period expired. Such an order would be plainly improper under even Southern First’s interpretation of Gordon.

The expiration of the judgment’s lien and collection period have mooted this appeal. Whether Southern First wins or loses here, no sale can be made in enforcement of the judgment. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-39-30, 15-35-810; Gordon, 425 S.C. at 386; Garrison, 258 S.C. at 446-47. “[I]ntervening events prevent a decision on appeal from having an immediate impact on the parties.” Wachesaw Plantation, 414 S.C. at 359 (quoting 15 S.C. Jur. Appeal and Error § 19).

This appeal is also moot for an independent reason. As discussed above, Southern First brought a separate action seeking the same judicial sale it sought in this case. (R. pp. 278-88, 300-82.) After the judgment’s lien and execution period ended, Southern First voluntarily stipulated the dismissal of that separate action with prejudice.<sup>3</sup> That suit’s “dismissal with prejudice indicates an adjudication on the merits and preclude[s] subsequent litigation to the same extent as if the action had been tried to final adjudication. Where an action has been dismissed with prejudice, the judgment operates in subsequent litigation to the same extent as if the action had been tried to a final adjudication.” Jones v. City of Folly Beach, 326 S.C. 360, 483 S.E.2d 770, 773 (Ct. App. 1997).

Were this appeal to result in reversal and remand, Southern First then could not succeed in getting the sale it wants because of the bar of res judicata – regardless of whether the judgment’s 10-year period has run. “Res judicata precludes parties from subsequently relitigating issues actually litigated and those that might have been litigated in a prior action. In order for res judicata to apply, the parties—or their privies—and subject matter must be identical, and the prior suit adjudicated the issue.” Equivest Fin., LLC v. Ravenel, 422 S.C. 499, 507, 812 S.E.2d 438, 442 (Ct. App. 2018) (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). Further, res judicata applies to all

---

<sup>3</sup> This is shown by that stipulation’s attachment to a filing made in this appeal on September 25, 2023. The Vilchecks have not designated this stipulation for inclusion in the record on appeal, as that would be improper. Rule 210(c), SCACR. The stipulation did not exist at the time Judge Dukes rendered any of the appealed orders, and, thus, we can be certain it was not presented to the lower court.

rights and remedies “with respect to *all or part of the transaction, or series of connected transactions, out of which the action arose.*” S.C. Pub. Interest Foundation v. Greenville County, 401 S.C. 377, 388, 737 S.E.2d 502, 508 (Ct. App. 2013) (emphasis in original; quoting Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 24). Were this case to be remanded, res judicata would independently bar Southern First from *any* relief related to the subject judgment. Id.

Southern First also argues for the application of the capable-of-repetition-yet-evading-review and public importance exceptions to nonjusticiability. Southern First seeks for this court to use one of those exceptions to modify the Supreme Court’s holding in Gordon. 425 S.C. at 386. Southern First’s argument that these exceptions should apply is premised on the idea that Gordon is unfair. But, because of the constitutional structure of South Carolina’s court system, this court cannot modify Gordon even if it agrees with Southern First that Gordon is unfair. S.C. Const. Art. V, § 9. The precedential status of Gordon means that this court cannot change its holding in any way. Id. Arguments about whether Gordon ought to be changed, under these limited mootness exceptions or otherwise, must be made to the Supreme Court to have even a theoretical possibility of success. Id. There is no point in arguing about these exceptions, because the hierarchy of South Carolina courts means that Southern First cannot use them to get this court to modify Gordon. Id. It is in the state constitution. Id.

This appeal is moot, and the limited exceptions to mootness do not save it for Southern First.

### **CONCLUSION**

This appeal should be dismissed as moot. Should this court reach the merits, it should affirm. Southern First has not shown it is entitled to reversal of the master’s orders.